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. Focusing on “the basics”— |

Dedicated 1o exceeding customer expectations '
{ .

Selecteq Financial Data

I
t

.l
| chalYearEndeciAugusl ’
H |

(Dolars in millions, exCent per share a‘a.'a’) 2002 2003 2004

Net Sales !

2005 2006

;'
$5326  $5457 $5.637  g577 $5,94g ) )
Operating Profit ,' 71 918 999 976 1,010 .

Dilvted Earnings per Share I - 4;.00 5.34 6.56 7.18 7.50 ' ,j
Alter-Tax Return on Invested Capita - 19.8% 23.4% 25.1% 239%. 2299 ! '
Domestic Same Store Saleg Grofmh ‘ 1338% 3.2% 0.1% (2.1)% 0.4 :

Operating Margin 14.5% 16.8% 17.7% 17.1% 17.0% |

Cash Flow from Operations ¥ 736 g 721

$ 638 $ 648 5 823

2006 Sales by Strategic Priorit
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AutoZoners always put customers first! |

We know our parts and products.
Our stores look great!
We've gor the best merchandise at the right price. |

AvtoZone Pn'edge est. 1986

7l Rueolome

The Complete Solution™

(il Rutolone
Commercial

7700 RutoZone:

Su Supertienda de Autop/gr';gs"\ _

ALLDATA

Iucraft

Dear Customers, AutoZoners, and Stockholders:

Fiscal 2006 was ancther record year for AutoZone. We increased

" sales to nearly $6 billion and increased earnings per share to

$7.50, both 4% increases over the previous year.

We also invested more than $260 million to update our existing
store base, open 204 new siores, and improve our technology
infrastructure.

More importantly, fiscal 2006 repositioned the Company to
succeed for the future. We began the year having completed
extensive consumer research. This research confirmed what we
have always known. The most compelling reason we give our
customers to shop at AutoZone is our continuing passion for
providing trustworthy advice. We were reminded we must have
the right merchandise, at the right price, at the right time in order
to deepen our relationship with our customers. It was clear to us
our focus for the upcoming year and beyond would be on the
basics. The year's initiatives would focus on AutoZone’s Pledge
which was written before AutoZone was a public company. Long
before there were 3,800 stores across 48 states, Puerto Rico,
and Mexico. It was written in 1986 when we had just celebrated
our 300th store opening, and we were determined to establish
guiding principles that we believed would clearly articulate
our commitment to our customers: Therefore, for 2008, we
re-committed ourselves to this Pledge and established the
following key initiatives: _
1) Improve the customers' shopping experience by optimizing
the number of both off-shelf merchandise placements and
sales floor product placements

=t~/
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2) Add clarity to our offering by reducin\g{ﬂ/amount of non-
automotive related items in our stores
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3) Focus on providing our customers with the broadest offering
of parts and accessories to meet their ever expanding needs

4) Renew the emphasis on training our AutoZoners—lncludmg |
a specific emphasis on our Culture

5) Focus on building "our brands™ by expanding coverage
under the Duralast family of brands '
growth !
|

|
N
o
6) Reposition our Commercial business for profitable future ; i
[
i
7} Expand our presence in Mexico and Puerto Rico 1

How the year began
The year began with a severe challenge. One week inio the new
fiscal year, the Gulf Ceast was hit with two major hurricanes. Both
“Katrina" and “Rita” caused large scale closures for a period ofl
time to many of our locations, destroying 13 AutoZone stores. |
Even worse, over one hundred sixty AutoZoners lost their homes
in the storms. From those disasters, we rallled together as an ]
organization. We utilized our "AutoZoner Assustance Fund” to ‘
raise money for those who were in need. The way our fellow !
AutoZoners pulled together from across the enlire company, i,

exemplified the spirit and determination that is at the core of : :

everything we do. ‘




Bill Rhodes—President and CEQ, Customer Satisfaction

1.&2. Improve the shopping experience by reducing
non-automotive items and ensuring our store product
placements were optimized

We began the year determmed to improve our store presen-
tation. First, we removed and deemphasized our offering of
non-automotive items in our stores. We focused our off-shelf
promaotional presentations on core automotive items that were
retevant to virtually every customer. This effort reinforced to our
customers that AutoZone was their vehicle solutions provider,

Then, over a short twelve week period, our organization came
together io complete one of the single largest store initiatives in
our Company’s history, resetting over 3,200 stores. Championed
by our field organization, these reseis were absolutely essential
to improving the customer shopping experience. These resets
provided a consistent offering to our customers across the nation
and ensured our products were placed in the optimal most con-
veniant location for our customers, This effort was critical for us
to fulfill our Pledge's promise that *Qur stores look great!”

3. Focus on providing our customers with the broadest
offering of parts and accessories

We have continued our focus on providing our customers with
the broadest offering of parts and accessories to meet their ever
expanding needs. In fact, in the second half of 2006, we signifi--
cantly intensified our efforts in this area. During the spring of
2006, we launched new merchandise assortment planning soft-
ware designed to improve in-stock levels. This software allows
us to leverage tremendous amounts of data from across all our
stores. i provides us with invaluable information allowing us to
further tailor our product assortment in every individual store. As
we've rolled out new product assortments, we've continued to
listen to our customers and AutoZoners and identified additional
opportunities for improvement. We continue to refine this effort
and believe our new approach will lead to significant improve-
ments in our ability to meet our customers’ needs for both Retail
and Commercial.

4. Renewed emphasis on training—Energizing Our Culture
AutoZone has a unique and powerfut culture. During 2006, we
renewed our emphasis on our culture by making sure all 53,000
plus AutoZoners embraced it and exemplified it in every customer
interaction. Qur culture uses routine practices to constantly remind
each of us that customer satisfaction is paramount. One of these
practices is WITTDTJR (What It Takes To Do the Job Right). This
practice instills in cur AutoZoners the need to make sure our
customers have everything they need to "Do the Job Right.”
From suggesting 10 our customers the need to change their air
filter on a regular maintenance interval to making sure they have
krake fluid and brake parts cleaner when they are completing a

brake job, we owe this 1o our customers. Some consider this {ocus

to be a related selling practice and it is. But more importantly it '
is about making sure our customers have the tools, products,
knowledge and advice to successfully complete the job.

We teach these practices to our AutoZoners during their first
day on the job and we reinforce them through numerous other
initiatives including cur WITTDTJR meetings. These meetings -
are a critical element in building our culture, and in 2006, we
increased the frequency and focus of these meetings. We have
been very pleased with our AutoZoners’ commitment to our
cultural practices.

During 2006, we alse began routinely measuring the effective- !
ness of our initiatives through the use of customer satisfaction

surveys conducted at the store level. This poweriul, consistent
feedback has helped us quantify our improvements in customer
service and identify areas for continued focus. Over the course

of the year, we have seen consistent increases in customer
satisfaction scores. Our customers are telling us we're on the ‘
right track. _ .

5. Focus on “Qur Brands™ :
We have been extremely successful over the years at both i
establishing and building brands in an automotive aftermarket

industry that didn't necessarily have significant product brands.

Over time, we've built brands like Duralast and Valucraft into

major names in the industry. In fact, we believe Duralast, with

over $1.3B in sales, has become one of the largest brands in the
entire aftermarket parts industry. While we believe establishing

these brands has been a major part of our sales success, it has

also helped us to establish a more effective import initiative. By
controlling the brand, we believe we can manage both cost and
quality more effectively from multiple vendors, located in multiple
countries, across many merchandise categories. Both our Retail

and Commercial customers are telling us the Duralast products

meet or exceed their needs while providing them with a good

value. This is a relatively new initiative that we believe will con-

tinue to gain traction over time. We are pleased with our prog-

ress to date, and we will expand our brands across existing and

new merchandise categories for many years to come.

6. Reposition the Commercial Business for profitable

future growth

With over $700 million in sales this past year, our Commercial busi-
ness team enjoyed one of their most profitable years. However,
we still continue 1o learn a great deal. Although our Commercial
business has grown to be a key contributor to our success, today
our market share represents less than 1.5% of an estimated $53
billion dollar” industry! We've learned over the years growing this
business is not difficult; however, growing it profitably is more




o

challenging. Early on we rapidly grew sales without the commen-
surate increase in profitability. Our, objective is to do both. We
started with the rollout of cur perseonal digital assistant devices
(PDAs). We placed these handhe!d units in every one of our 2,100
Cammercial Program locations, and we began accumulating
actionable information. We time stamped every segment of our
commercial transactions and soon developed customer-level
key performance indicators. We've taken several hundred Com-
mercial programs and rolled a new test built on the learnings
from our PDAs, customer feedback and additional smaller tests.
From these learnings, we began testlng in certain Commercial
stores a new way of doing busmess We've focused on adding
the appropriate merchandise coverage and delivery capabilities
to those customers most capable to grow their business with
AutoZone. While these test stores’ early successes have been
promising, we continue to monitor thelr resuits and refine our
approach as additional programs are added. We're building
our program right for the future, and we are very encouraged
by our initial resuits. {

7. Continue to expand our prese]nce in Mexico and
Puerto Rico '

| With 100 stores open in Mexico and 12 in Puerto Rico at fiscal

| year end, we couldn't be prouder o.f our wonderful AutoZoners

’ in these stores. Starting with our first store opened in Mexico

in 1998 and in Puerto Rico in 2005, we continue to believe

growth exists in both markets for years to come. However, we

will continue to be cautious making sure we grow prudently and
profitably, as we expand our infrastructure capabilities in these
locations, concurrent with our store expansion plans.

oo

The Future !

In retrospect, 2006 was a solid year for AutoZone We exit the
year a much stronger, more engaged organization than we were
just twelve short months ago. As we conclude 2006 and launch
2007, we celebrate our many accomplishments and highlight
those critical areas for continued lmprovement Most importantly,
we are committed to a consistent plan and approach. Our oper-
ating plan theme for 2006 was “Live the Pledge.” This year's
theme is "Living the Pledge.” This minor change in theme subtly
highlights and recognizes the improvements we have made
while at the same time reinforces to all of us the tremendous
importance of getting the basics right.

*2006/2007 AAIA Factbook |

We promise we will continue to be efficient §tewards of your
capital. We will maintain our financial disciplines and focus on
those initiatives that exceed our after-tax return on invested
capital hurdle. This disciplined approach allowed us to make
considerable investments in our business durlng 2006 while
simultaneously returnrng nearly $580 mlIIIOI:'I to our stockholders
through our ongoing share repurchase program. These com- | .
bined results highlight the power of our model and the dlSCIpllr‘le
of our AutoZoners.

|
|
|
I

While we are proud of the successes we had this past year, we
are not satisfied. We have to continue to go the extra mile o 1
help our customers. As wa work toward thrs objective, we'd liké
to extend our sincere gratitude to our AutoZ_onere customers, {
and suppliers for their many valuable contributions. \
The most critical element to our success is our AutoZoners. |
They deliver the exceptional customer service every day that |s
our key point of differentiation. During 2006 they recommitted:

themselves to our culture and delivered superlor customer ser-

vice. We thank our AutoZeners for their passron commitment !
and dedication to our terrific organization and its customers. |

Our past success and future triumphs will be built on exceedlng
customers' expectations, and we are determmed o do that by| .
focusing on the basics. We have lo make sure we're doing the'
right things every day to win our customers’ business.

In summary, AutoZone continues to be a Ieader in an exciting
and fast growing industry. We have a clear!plan for the future,
and an experienced ieam to execute it. We look forward io
updating you on our continued success well into the future.

Sincerely,
Bill Rhodes
President and CEC

i
|
|
i
|
I
!
Customer Satisfaction I
i
|
i
|
i
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
{continued)

Under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” {*SFAS 1427),
we perform an annual test of goodwill 1o compare the.estimated fair value of goodwill to the carrying.amount to determine if. any .
impairment exists. We perform the annual impairment assessment'in.the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, unless circumstances
dictate more frequent assessments.

If impairments are indicated by either of the above evaluations, the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the
fair value of the assets is'recagnized as an impairment loss. Such evaluations require management 10 make certain assumptions
based upon information available at the time the evaluation is performed, which could differ from actual results.

Self-insurance
We retain a significant portion of the risks associated with workers' compensation, vehicle, employee health, general and product

liability and property losses. Liabilities associated with these losses include estimates of both claims filed and losses incurred but not *

yet reported. Through various methods, which include analyses of historical trends and utilization of actuaries, the Company estimates
the costs of these risks. The actuarial estimated long-term portions of:these liabilities are recorded at our estimaie of their net present
value; other liabilities are not discounted. We believe the amounts acecrued are adequate, although aciual losses may differ from the
amounts provided. We maintain stop-loss coverage to limit the exposure related to certain risks.

Income Taxes o .

We accrue and pay income taxes based on the tax statutes, regulations and case law of the various jurisdictions in which we operate.
Income tax expense involves management judgment as to the ultimate resolution of any tax matters in dispute with state, federal and
foreign tax authorities. Managément believes the resalution of the current open tax issues will not have a material impact on our con-
solidated financial statements.

Litigation and Other Contingent Liabilities

We have received claims related 10 and been notified that we are a defendant in a number of legal proceedings resulting from our

business, such as employmem matiers, product liability claims and general liability claims related to our store premises. We calculate

contingent loss accruals using our best estimate of our probable and reasonably estimable contmgent I|ab|l|tfes such as fawsuits and
our retained liability for msured claims.

Pension Obligation .

Prior to January 1, 2003, substantially all full-time employees were covered by a defined benefit pension plan. The benefits under the
plan were based on years of service and the employee’s highest consecutive five-year average compensation. On January 1, 2003,
the plan was frozen. Accordingly, pension plan participanis will earn no new benefits under the plan formula and no new participants
will join the pension plan. On January 1, 2003, the Company's supplemental defined benefit pension plan for certain highly compén-
sated employees was also frozen. Accordingly, plan participants will earn no new benefits under the p'lan formula and no new partici-
pants will join the pension plan. As the plan benefits are frozen, the annual pension expense and recorded liabilities are not impacted
by increases in future compensation levels, but are impacted by acluarial calculations using two key assumpiions:

i. Expected long-term rate of retumn on plan assets: estimated by considering the corﬁpositic_:n ol our asset portfolio, our historical
ong-term investment performance and current market conditions. ) ) -

il. Discount rate used fo determine benefit obligations: adjusted annually based on the interest rate for long-term high-quality corporate
bonds as of the measurement date (May 31) using yields for maturities that are in ling with the duration of our pension liabilities. .
This same discount rate is also used o determine pension expense for the following plan year. If such assumptions differ matenaliy
from actual experience, the impact could be material to our financial statements.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

AutoZone is exposed to market risk from, among other things, changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and fuel prices. From
time to time, we use various financial instruments to reduce interest rate-and fuel price risks. To date, based upon our current level of
foreign operations, hedging costs and past changes in the associated.foreign exchange rates, no derivative instruments have been-
utifized to reduce foreign exchange rate risk. All of cur hedging activities are governed by guidelings that are authorized by our Board
of Direclors. Further, we do not buy or seil financial instruments for trading purposes.

interest Rate Risk

AutcZone's financial market risk results primarily from changes in interest rates. At times, we reduce our exposure to changes in interest
rates by entering into various interest rate hadge instruments such as interest rate swap contracts, treasury lock agreements and
forward-starting interest rate swaps.




AutoZone has historically utilized interest rate swaps to converi variable rate debt to fixed rale debt and to lock m fixed rates on future
debt issuances. We reflect the current fair value of all interest rale hedge instruments in our consolidated barance sheels as a compo-
nent of other assets. We had an outstandrng interest rate swap with a fair value of $10.2 million at August 26, 2006 and $4.3 mrllron'
at August 27, 2005, to efiectwely fix the interest rate on the $300.0 million term loan entered into during December 2004. .

i

The related gains and losses on interest rate hedges are deferred in stockholders’ equity as a component of other comprehensive
income or loss. These deferred gains and losses are recognized in income as a decrease or increase {0 inerest expense in the i L
period in which the related intere!st rates being hedged are recognized in expense. However, to the extent that the change in value |-
of an interest rate hedge instrument does not perfectly offset the change in the value of the interest rate being|hedged, that meffec-
tive portion is immediately recodmzed in income. The Company's hedge instrument was determined to be hrghly effeclive as of,r
August 26, 20086, !

| |
The fair value of our debt was estlmated at $1.825 bitlion as of Augusi 26, 2006, and $1.868 billion as of August 27, 2005, based on

the quoted market prices for the same or similar debt issues or on the current rates available to AutoZone for debi having the same

remaining maturities. Such fair value is less than the carrying value of debt by $32.3 million at August 26, 2006 and greater than the ’

carrymg value of debt by $6.3 million at August 27, 2005. Considering the effect of any interest rate swaps desrgnated and effectrve
as cash flow hedges, we had $167.2 million of variable rate debt outstanding at August 26, 2006, and $221.9 mrlllon outstanding at -
August 27, 2005, At these borrowing levels for variable rate debt, a one percentage point increase in interest rates would have had]
an unfavorable impact on our pre-tax earnings and cash flows of $1.7 million in 2006 and $2.2 million in fiscal 2005 which mcludef
the effects of interest rate swaps, The primary interest rate exposure on variable rate debt is based on LIBOR. ponsrdermg the effect
of any interest rate swaps designated and effective as cash flow hedges, we had outstanding fixed rate debt of $1.690 billion at
August 26, 2006, and $1.640 billion at August 27, 2005. A one perceniage point increase in interest rates would reduce the fair va!ue
of our fixed rate debt by $68.3 million at August 26, 2008, and $65.6 millien at August 27, 2005. , Ia

i
Fuel Price Risk 3

Fuel swap contracts utilized by us have not previously been designated as hedging instruments under the provisions of SFAS 133 and
thus do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment, although the insiruments were executed to economically hedge the consumplron
of digsel fuel used to distribute our products. Accordingly, mark-to-market gains and losses related to such fuel swap contracts are
recorded each period in cost of sales as a component of distribution costs. As of August 27, 2005, the then culrrent month's fuel s_wap
contract was outstanding with a settlement date of August 31, 2005. During fiscal 2005 and 2004, we entered into fuel swaps to eco-
nomically hedge a portion of our diesel fuel exposure. These swaps were settled within a few days of each fisc]al year end and had no
significant impact on cost of sales for the 2005 or 2004 fiscal years. We did not enter into any fuel swap contra:cts during fiscal 2(5(?6.

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures ' | Y

“Selected Financial Data" and * Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” include certarn
financial measures not derived in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP™). These non-GAAP fmancral
measures provide additional |nformanon for determining our optimum capital structure and are used to assist m'anagement in evaluatmg
performance and in making approprrate business decisicns to maximize stockholders’ value. II : ‘!;

Non-GAAP financial measures should noi be used as a substitute for GAAP financial measures, or consrdered in isolation, for the pur-
pose of analyzing our operating performance, financial position or cash flows. However, we have presented the non-GAAP financial
measures, as we believe they provide additional information io analyze or compare our operations. Furthermore, aur management and
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors use the abovementioned non-GAAP financial measures zo analyze and compare
our underlying cperating results and to determine payments of performance-based compensation. We have rncluded a reconcrlratron
of this information to the most comparabie GAAP measures in the following reconciliation tables. !

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Frnancral Measure: Cash Flow Before Share Repurchases and Changes in Debt |
The following table reconciles net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents to cash flow before share repurchases and changes
in debt, which is presented in the "Selected Financial Data.” ;I

l
Fiscal Year Ended August
i

in thousands) ) 2006 2005 2004 | 2003 2002

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equrvalents $ 16,748 § (2042) % (16,250) | $ 22798 $ (3.709)
Less: Increase (decrease} in debt (4,693} (7.400) 322,405 i 352,328 (30 B85)
Less: Share repurchases i ’ (578,066} (426,852) . (B848,102)! (891,095) (698 983)
Cash flow before share repurchases and changes in debt $ 599,507  $ 432210  $ 509447 f $ 561,563  § 726159
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Management’s Discussion and Analysrs of Fmanc:al Condmon and Results of Operations
{conunued) '

) . r
) .

. 1 . *
Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure: After:Tax Return on Invested Capital |,
The following table recanciles the percentages of aftér-tax return on invested capital, or "ROIC." After-tax return on invested capital
is calculated as after- tax operating profit (excluding rent) divided by-average invested.capital (which includes a factor to capatallze» .
operating leases). The FIOIC percentages are presented in the “Selected Financial Data

! o ! . - Fiscal Year Ended August o

(in thousands, excep! per share and percentage data) . 2006 © . .2005 : 2004 2003 © 2002
Net income . . ’ $ 569,275 $ 571,019 $ * 566,202 $ 517,604 $ 428,148
Adjustments: ; . : . . - - B . . : .

Afier-tax interest ) 68,089 65,533 58,003 52,686 49,471

After-tax rent o 90,808 96,367 73,086 68,764 " 61,348
After-tax return $ 728,172 $ 732918 $ 697,201 $ 639,054  $ 538967
Average debtt ' $1,909,011 $1,069,639 $1.787.307 $1,484 987 $1,329,077
Average equity® . 510,657 316,639 292,802 - 580,176 * 802,289"
Rentx 6@ | ; . . 863,328 774706 . 701,621 663,990 | - 594,192
Pre-tax invested capital = ' ‘ . $3,262,996°  $3060984 « $2781,730 . $2,720153 - $2,725,558.
ROIC - : 22.2% ©23.9% - 251% 23.4% 198%

n Average debt is equal lo the average of our iong- -tgrm debl measured ar the end of the prior f.'scaf year and each of rhe 13 .ﬁsca.' penods in the curent ﬁsca-' year Long-term
debi (in :housands) was $1,225,402 at Augus! 25, 2001

(2} Average equity is equal to the average of our stockholders® equity measured at the end of the prior fiscal year and each of the 13 fiscal periods of the curent fiscal year.
Stockholders’ equuy {in thousands} was $866,213 at August 25, 2001.

(3} Rent is mulrrphed by a factor of six to caplrahze operating leases in the delermination of pre-tax mvesfed capilal. Thrs ca!cufarron excludes the impact from the cumulative
fease accounting adjustments recorded in the second quar!er of fiscal 2005. -
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting |
. o

. [ -
! ]
Qur management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal contro! over financial reporllng {as defined in ’;
Rules 13a-15{f} and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our internal control ovgr financial reportmg
includes, among other things, defmed policies and procedures for conducting and governing cur business, sophisticated mforrnatlon
systems for processing transactlons and properly trained staif. Mechanisms are in place to monitor the effectwéness of our unternal|
control over {inancial reporting, mcludlng regular testing performed by the Company s internal audit team, wh|ch is comprised of ||
both Deloitte & Touche LLP protéssionals and Company personnel, Actions are taken to correct deficiencies as;| they are identified. -
Our procedures for financial reporting include the active involvement of senior management, our Audit Commmlee and a staff of
highly qualified financial and Iegal professionals. : , l '
]

Management, with the part:mpanon of our principal executive and financial officers, assessed our internal control over financial ' i
reparting as of August 26, 20086, ithe end of our fiscal year. Management based its assessment on criteria esiallahshed in Internal ’
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsering Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
COSs0O crnena)

e i o m o~ =

Based on this assessment, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
August 26, 2006. }

. t '
Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, audited management's assessment and the effectiveness '
of our internal control over financial reporting. Ernst & Young has issued their report concurring with managemént‘s assessment,
which is included in this Annual Report. i
" I
Certifications i
. . !
Compliance with NYSE Corporate Governance Listing Standards '
On January 4, 2006, the Company submitted to the New York Stock Exchange the Annual CEO Certification requwed pursuant to
Section 303A.12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual.

]
Rule 13a-14(a) Certifications of Pn'ncr',oal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer i '
The Company has filed, as exh|b|ts to its Annual Report an Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 26, 2006, the ceriifications of

its Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Qfficer required pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- |Oxley Act of 2004.: k

]

|

|
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

To the Board:of Directors and Stockholders of
AutoZone, Inc.

We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, that AutoZone, inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of August 26, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission {lhe COSO criteria). AutoZone, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and {or its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to éxpress an
opinion on management’s-assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit, :

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards af the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal conirol over financial
reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal contrel, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1} pertain to the mainte-
nance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
{2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accord-
ance with generally acqepted accounting principles, anq that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material
effect on the financiai statements. =

Because of its inherent limitations, internal controt over financial reporting may not prevent or detect missiatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management's assessment that AutoZone, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
August 26, 20086, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, AutoZone, Inc. maintained,
in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of August 26, 20086, based on the COSO criteria,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Beard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of AutoZone, Inc. as of August 26, 20086 and August 27, 2005 and the related consolidated statements
of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the pericd ended August 26, 2006 of AutoZane, Inc.
and our report dated October 12, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Memphis, Tennessee - '
Octaber 19, 2006 _ | | émt : £ MLLP
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
AutoZone, Inc.

i

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AutoZone, Inc. as of August 26, 2006 and August 27, 2005, and
the related consolidated stateménts of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three yea{sim the period ended
August 26, 2006. These financiat stalements are the responsibility of the Company's management, Our responsmlhty is fo express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. o

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).'
Those standards require that we' plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether ihe financial statements
are free of material misstaterment. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amoums and d:sc!osures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estlmates made by.
management, as well as evaluatmg the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits prov:de a reasonable basns

for our opinion. ' . I ' :
|

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred 1o above present fairly, in all material respecls, thfe consolidated finahi::ial
position of AutoZone, Inc. as of August 26, 2006 and August 27, 2005, and the consolidated results of its operaitions and its cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended August 26, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles."

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), thé
effectiveness of AutoZone, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of August 26, 2008, based on criteria established in ; o
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our
report dated October 19, 2006 elxpressed an unqualified opinion thereon. I :

| P
|

Memphis, Tennessee l o :
October 18, 2006 _ é/l/ﬂ'ﬂt'f LLP '|
1
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Consolidated Statements of Income

LI
- . R

Year Ended
August 26, August 27, August 28,
‘ 7 2006 2005 . 2004
(in thousands, except per share data) . . (52 Weeks) (52 Weeks) (52 Weeks)
Net sales .- " $5,948,356  $5710,882 85,637,025
Cost of sales, including warehouse and delivery expenseé 3,009,835 2,918,334 2,880,446
. Operating, selling, general and administrative expenses . 1,928,595 1,816,884" 1,757,873
Operating profit . .- e IR - . 1,009,925 975,664 998,706
interest expense, net , e T . 107,889 102,443 92,804
Incomé before income taxes 902,036 873,221 - 905,902
Inéome taxes * ' 332,761 302,202 339,700
Net income $ 569,275 $.571.019 % 566,202
Weightéd éverage sharels for basic earnings per share 75,237 78530 84‘,559:%
Effect of dilutive stock equivalents 622 978 1,357
Adjusted weighted ave;rége shares for diluted earnings per share 75,869 79,508 86,350
Basic earnings pershare o L $ 757 § 727, $° 666
Diluted-earnings per share - - 1§ 750 $ 718§ 656

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1k
_ i
Consolidated Balance Sheets , . l

' ]
.L © August 26, Augus; :27,
{in thousands, excepl per share datd) ' ' 2006 2005
Assetls l - | .
Current assets: . ' ) ‘ i '
-Cash ang cash equiva lents | - - : $ 91,558 $ 74 810 '
Accounts receivable ' . ‘80 363 118, 263
Merchandise inventories 1 846 650 1,663, 860
Other current assets 100 356 72, 526

Total current assets

i 2,118,927 1,929,459
Property and equipment: .

{%

Land | 568,444 559231
Buildings and improvements | _ 1 566 002 1 450, 814
Equipment 729 426 ' 662, 495
Leasehold improvements 165 577 A 150, 846
Construction in progress D . 13‘} 359 155.251

_ L , 3,183,808 .. 2,978,637

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization - 1,132,500 .. 1,041.0_22

' : : 2,051,308 1,937,615

Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization 302,645 302, 699
Deferred income taxes ! . . _ - 20,643 32, 91 7
Other long-term assets ! B o . 32,7683 42, 567
' 356,071 378,183

j ' - Le

] $4,5§6,306 $4,245,257
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity . : . i
Current liabilities: ' I

1

i
Accounts payabie ’ $1,699,667 $1,538, 7'76
Accrued expenses ! . : . 2:80,419 255 672
Income taxes payable ' . ) X . 24,378 4, 753 :
Deferred income taxes i o . ., ' b 50,104 10, 958
Total current liabilities 3 v ’ C; 2,0:54,568 . 1,811, 159
Long-term debt . . o - . 1,8|57,157 1,861 850
Other liabilities - P L 145,053 181, 241
Commitments and contlngenmes ' —. . -
Stockholders’ equity: ' i : - S . !;
Preferred stock, authorized i 000 shares no shares issued Cs : : S = L —
Common stock, par value $. 01 per share, authorized 200,000 shares; 77,240 shares issued ’
and 71,082 shares outstandmg in 2006 and 81,111 shares issued and 76,539 shares ‘ ‘
outstanding in 2005 : i 772 ' 811
Additional paid-in capital ~ : - - : . 590,880 462, 289
Retained garnings ‘ . ' ' T - 559,208 370, 276
Accumulated other comprehenswe Ioss . : . (‘:I 5,500) {36, 581)
Treasury stock, at cost ' ' {575,832) (405, 788)

Total stockholders' equity 1 ) - o 469,528 391,0{)7
- . § ] i
i $4,526,306  $4,245,257

. 3 i . i .
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Fraremen!s, . ' |
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Consolidated Statements of Cash. Flows

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

i
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Year Ended
August 26, August 27, August 28,
2006 2005 2004
(in thousands) _ (52 Weeks) (52 Weeks) (52 Weeks)
Cash {flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 569,275 $ 571,019 $ 566,202
Adjustments io reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities: :
_Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment r 139,465 135,597 106,891
" Deferred rent liability adjustment — 21,627 .=
Amortization of debt origination fees 1,559 2,343 4,2301
. Income tax benefii from exercise of stock options (10,608) 31,828 24,339
Deferred income ta>;<es 36,306 (16,628) 44,498
Income from warranty negotiations -_ (1,736) (42,094)
Share-based compensation expense 17,370 — —
Chénges in operﬁling assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 37,900 (42,485) 3,759
Merchandise inventories {182,790) (124,566) (119,539)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 184,986 109,341 43,612
. Income taxes payable 28,676 (67,343) 32,118
Other, net ' 608" 29,186 (25,637}
Net cash provided-by operating activities 822,747 648,083 638,379"
Cash.flows from investing activities:

_ Capital expenditures (263,580) (283,478} (184,870}
Purchase of marketable securities " {159,957) — —
Proceeds from sale of investments 145,369 .. — g
Acquisitions — (3,090) (11,441)
Disposal of capital aséets 9,845 3,797 2,590

Net cash uséq in iniresling aclivities, (268,323} (282,771} (193,721)
Cash flows from financing activities: ' _ ’
Net (repaymentis of) proceeds from commercial paper ~ (51,993) (304,700} 254,400
Proceeds from issuancé of debt ' 200,000 300,000 ‘500,000
Repayment of Senior Notes (150,000) — {431 .995)

. Net proceeds from sale of common stock - 38,253 64,547 » 33,552
Purchase of treasury stock (578,066} (426,852) v (848,102)
Settlement of interest rate hedge instruments _ — 32,166
Income tax benefi from exercise of stock options™ 10,608 — —
Other : ’ E (6,478) (349) (929)
_ Net cash uged in financing activities ' " {537,676) (367,354) °  (460,908)

Net increase (decreasé)jin cash and cash equivalents 16,748 (2,042) (16,250)
Cash and cash equivalgal‘nls at beginning of year 74,810 76,852 93,102
Cash and cash equivale:mé at end of year $ 91,558 $ 74810 § 76,852
Supplémental cash Tlowlinformation: ) }
Interest paid, net of interest cost capitalized $ 104,929 $ 98,937 $ 77871
Income laxes paid - $ 267,913 $ 339,245 $ 237,010
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity .

[ S (PO SV

\
v/////A
|

Accumulated ,
Common Additional Other '
Shares  Common Paig-in  Retaned  Comprehensive { Treasury Y
(in thousands) : Issued Stock Capital Earnings Loss Stock Total
Balance at August 30, 2003 100,670 $1.007 $410962 $869,739 $(37,297) f $(870,6853) $373,758
Ngtincome ‘ , 566,202 ‘ 566,202
Minimum pension hiability net of taxes of $10,750 : 17,537 17, 537
Foreign currency translation adjustment (3,841} (3. 841)
Net gains on outstanding derivatives net of taxes 3}
of $1,740 i 2,900 ! 2,900
Net gains on ferminated/matured derivatives | i
net of taxes of ($15,710) 6,226 6'226
Reclassification of derivative ineffectiveness ‘ I
into earnings ! (2,701 (2 701
Reclassification of net losses on derivatives l
into earnings 1,523 1:523
Comprehensive income ; 587:846
Purchase of 10,194 shares of treasury' stock | (848,102) (848'; 102)
Retirement of treasury stock ' {12,400} (124) {54.611)  (855,794) | X 910,529 ) 1!‘_
Sale of common stock under slock option and ‘ [ o
stock purchase plans . 1,123 1i. 33.541 | 33 552
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 24,339 ' 24, 339
Balance at August 28, 2004 5 89,393 894 414231 580,147 {15,653) i (808,226) 171.{393
Net income ' 571,019 ‘ 5?15,919
Minimum pensian liability net of taxes of ($16 925) {25,283) l (25|.?93)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 5,160 " 5,160
Net gains on ouistanding derivatives net of taxes ! il
of $1,589 . 2717 ! 2,717
Reclassification of derivative meffectlveness into ' o i
eamnings net of taxes of ($1,740) . (2,900) ! . {2.900)
Reclassification of net gains on derivatives : T *.
into earnings {612) ; {612)
Comprehensive income ; 550, 091
Purchase of 4,822 shares of treasury stock . l (426,852) (426, 852) '
Retirement of treasury stock ' (10,0009 (100)  (48,300)  (780,890) 829,290 ' ' —
Sale of common stock under stack option and . ’ o
stock purchase plans - 1,718 17 64,530 ! 64 o47
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 31,828 | 31 828
Balance at August 27, 2005 : N 81,111 811 462,289 370,276 (36,581) {405,788} 391, 007
Net income " 569,275 569,275
Minimum pension I|ab=I|[y net of taxes of $14,624 22532 22,532
Fareign currency franslation adjustment (4,410) (4,410)
Unrealized loss adjustment on marketable ' . ,'
securities net of taxes of ($98) (181) ‘(181)
Met gains on outstanding derivatives net of taxes !
of $2,152 | 3,752 3,752
Rectassification of net gains on derivatives "+ O
into earnings (612) (612}
Comprehensive income ' 59[)!356
Purchase of 6,187 shares of lreasury stock (578,086)  (578,086)
Retirement of treasury stock {4.600) (46) (27,633)  (380,343) 408,022 h—
Sale of common stock under stock option and L
stock purchase plans ) ' 729 7 38,246 3$;253
Share-based compensation expense 17,370 . 1?:'370
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options 10,608 _ ' 101608
77,240 $ 772 $500,880  $ 550,208 $(15,500) | $(575.832) $ 469,528

Balance at August 26, 2006 '

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - . .

Note A—Significant Accounting Policies

Business

AutoZone, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries (*AutoZone” or the “Company”) is principally a retailer of automotive parts and
accessories. At the end of fiscal 2008, the Company operated 3,771 domestic siores in 48 states, the District of Cotumbia and Puerto
Rico and 100 stores in Mexico. Each store carries an extensive product line for cars, sport utility vehicles, vans and light trucks,
including new and remanufactured automotive hard parts, mainienance items, accessories and non-automotive producis. Many of the
stores have a commercial sales program that provides commercial credit and prompt delivery of parts and other preducts to local,
regional and national repair garages, dealers an‘d service stations. The Company also sells the ALLDATA brand automotive diagnostic
and repair software. On the web at www.autozone.com, the Company sells diagnostic and repair information, auto and light truck
parts, and accessories.

Iéiscan' Year
The Company’s fiscal year consists of 52 or 53 weeks ending on the last Saturday in August.

Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of AutoZone, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates
Management of the Company has made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities to prepare these financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents :

Cash eguivalents consist of investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the date of purchase. Excluded from cash eqguiva-
lents are investments in money market accounts, held by the Company’s wholly owned insurance captive that was established during
fiscal 2004. These investments approximated $8.0 million at August 26, 20086, and $40.2 million at August 27, 2005, and are included
within the other current assets caption and are recorded at cost, which approximaies market value, due to the short maturity of the
investrents.

Marketable Securities

During fiscal 2006, the Company invested a portion of its asseis held by the Company’s wholly owned insurance capiive in marketable
debt securities. The Company accounts for these securities in accordance with Staterment of Financial Accounting Standards (*SFAS")
No. 115, *Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” and accordingly, classifies them as available-for-sale. The
Company includes the securities within the other current assets caption and records the amounts at fair market value, which is deter-
mined using quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. Unrealized gains and losses on these marketable securities are
recorded in accumulated other corﬁprehensive income, net of tax.

On August 26, 2006, the Company's available-for-sale financial instruments consisted of the following:

{in thousands) . Amortized Cost Basis ~ Gross Unrealized Gains ~ Gross Unrealized Losses . Fair Markst Value
Debt Securities $46,801 $13 $(292) $46,522

The debt securities held at August 26, 2006, had contractual maturities ranging from less than one year to approximately 30 years.
The Company did not realize any material gains or losses on its marketable securities during fiscal 2006. Prior to 2006, the Company
did not invest in any securities required o he accounted for under SFAS 115.

Accounts Receivable )
Accounts receivable consists of receivables from customers and vendors, including the current portion of long-term receivables from
certain vendors, and are presented net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. AutoZone routinely grants credit to certain of its
commercial customers. The risk of credit loss in our trade receivables is subsiantially mitigated by our credit evaluation process, short
collection terms and sales to a large number of cusiomers, as well as the low revenue per transaction for most of our sales. Allowances
for potential credit losses are determined based on historical experience and current evaluation of the compaosition of accounts receiv-
able. Historically, credit losses have been within management's expeclations and the allowances for uncollectible accounts were $13.7
million at August 26, 2008, and $11.0 million at August 27, 2005. The Company routinely sells its receivables to a third party at a dis-
count for cash with limited recourse. AutoZone has recorded a $1.0 miflion recourse reserve related to the $53.4 million in outstanding
factored receivables at August 26, 2006. The recourse reserve at August 27, 2005 approximated $500,000 related to the $50.7 million
in outstanding factored receivables.
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Merchandise Inventories | .
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. Included in inverltory are related pur-
chasing, storage and handling costs. Due to price deflation on the Company's merchandise purchases, the Companys tnventory' ;
balances are effectively maintained under the first-in, first-out method as the Company’s policy is not 10 write up mventory for favorabte
LIFO adjustments, resulting in cost of sales being reflected at the higher amount. The cumulative balance of thrs unrecorded adjust-
- ment, which will be reduced upon experiencing price inflation on our merchandise purchases, was $198.3 m:llrt')n at August 26, 2006
and $166.8 million ai August 27, 2005. ‘ .I;

1
AutoZone has entered inlo pay- on-scan ("POS") arrangements with certain vendors, whereby AutaZoné will not purchase merchandrlse
supplied by a vendor until that merchandise is ulimately sold to AutoZone's customers. Title and certain risks of ownership remarn
with the vendor until the merchandrse is sold to AutoZones customers. Since the Company does not own merchandrse under’ POS
arrangements until just before it is sold to a customer such merchandise is not recorded in the Companys batance sheet. Upon the
sale of the merchandise to AutoZone's customers, AutoZone rECUQI"ItZBS the tiability for the goods and pays the, vendor in accordance
with the agreed-upon terms, Although AutoZone does not hold title to the goods, AutoZone controls prrcmg and has credit collectroln
risk and therefcre, revenues under POS arrangements are included gross in net sales in the | tncome statement Sales of merchandtse
under POS arrangement approximated $330.0 million in fiscal 2006, $460.0 millien in fiscal 2005 and $160.0 mrllron in fiscal 2004"
AutoZone has financed the repurchase of existing merchandise inventory by certain vendors in order to convert such vendors to POS
arrangements. These receivables have remaining durations up to 13 months and approximated $11.6 million at lAugust 26, 2006 and
$49.9 million at August 27, 2005. The current portion of these receivables is reflected in accounts receivable ar'rd approximated $11 6
million at August 26, 2006 and $37.5 millicn at August 27, 2005. The tong-term portionis reflected as a component of other long- term
assets and approximated less than $20,000 at August 26, 2006 and $12.4 million at August 27, 2005. Merchand:se under POSH
arrangements was $92.1 million at August 26, 2006 and $151.7 million at August 27, 2005. ’

il

Property and Equipment : -
Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is computed principally using the straight-line method over the following e
estimated useful lives: buildings,’ 40 to 50 years; building improvements, 5 to 15 years; equipment, 3 to 10 yea{rs and leasehold .
improvements over the shorter of the asset's estimated useful life or the remaining lease term, which includes any reasonably assured
renewal periods. : ]

v
1

t

impaimment of Long-Lived Assets . | . I

In accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accountlng Standards No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Drsposal
of Long-Lived Assets” ("SFAS 144"}, the Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amounts of the assets covered by thrs .
standard annually and more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be'recoverabll_e.
As part of the evaluation, the Company reviews performance at the store level to identify any stores with currenit period operating
losses that should be considered for impairment. The Company compares the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows
with the carrying amaunts of the 'assets. If impairments are indicated, the amount by which the carrying amounlt of the assets exceeds
the fair value of the assets is recogmzed as an |mpa|rment loss. No significant impairment losses were recorded in the three years t .
ended August 26, 2006. . . . l i

N
Goodwill ! o . Sy : i

The cost in excess of fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired is recorded as goodwill. In accordance with the pro-
visions of Statement of Financial' Accountmg Standards No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangrble Assets” ("SFAS 142"}, goodwill has
not been amortized since fiscal 2001 but an analysis is performed at least annually to compare the fair value of the reporting unit to
the carrying amount to determine if any impairment exists. The Company performs its annual impairment assessment in the fourth’ '
quarter of each fiscal year, unless circumstances dictate more frequent assessments. No impairment losses were recorded in the .
three years anded August 26, 2006. | : o
. I
Derivative Instruments and Hedgrng Activities f .
AutoZone is exposed to market risk from, among other things, changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates and fuel prices. From
time to time, the Company uses various financial instruments to reduce such risks. To date, based upon the Company’s current Ievel
of foreign operations, hedging costs and past changes in the associated foreign exchange rates, no derivative(instruments have been
utilized to reduce foreign exchange rate risk: All of the Company's-hedging activities are governed by gurdelrnes lhat are authorized
by AutoZone’s Board of Directors. Further, the Company does not buy or seli financial instruments for trading purposes. '
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Notes to Consoﬁdéted Financial Statements
{continued)

AutoZong's financial market risk results primarily from changes in interest rates. At times, AutoZone reduces its exposure to changes
in interest rates by enter:ing into various interest rate hedge instruments such as interest rate swap contracts, treasury lock agreements
and forward-starting interest rate swaps. The Company complies with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Nos..133, 137,
138 and 149 (collectively "SFAS 133") pertaining to the accounting for these derivatives and hedging activities which require all such
interest rate hedge instruments to be recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. All of the Company’s interest rate hedge instruments
are designated as cash flow hedges. Refer to “Note E—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” for additional disclosures
regarding the Company’s derivative instruments and hedging activities. Cash flows related to these instruments designated as qualify-
ing hedges are reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows in the same categories as the cash flows from
the items being hedged. Accordingly, cash flows relating to the settlement of interest rate derivatives hedging the forecasted issuance
of debt have been reflected upon settlement as a component of financing cash flows. The resulting gain or loss from such settlement
is deferred to accumulated other comprehensive loss and reclassified to interest expense over the term of the underlying debt. This
reclassification of the deferred gains and losses impacts the interest expense recognized on the underlying debt that was hedged
and is therefore reflected as a component of operating cash flows in periods subsequent to settlement. The periodic settlement of
interest rate derivatives hedging cutstanding variable rate debt is recorded as an adjustment to interest expense and is therefore
reflected as a component of operatlng cash flows.

Foreign Currency

The Company accounts for its Mexican operations using the Mexican peso as the functronal currency and converting its financial
statements from Mexican pesos to U.S. dollars in accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” The cumulative loss
on currency iranslation’is recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss and approximated $12.5 million at
August 26, 2006 and $8.1 million at August 27, 2005.

Self-insurance Reserves

The Company retains a significant portion of the risks associated with workers' compensation, employee health, general, products
liability, property and automotive insurance. Through various methods, which include anatyses of historical trends and utilization of
actuaries, the Company.estimates the costs of these risks. The actuarial estimated long-term portions of these liabilities are recorded
at our estimate of their net present value. :

Deferred Rent

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the course of the lease term, which includes any reasonably
assured renewal periods, that begin on the date the Company lakes physical possession of the property (see ‘Note J—Leases™).
Differences belween this calcutated expense and cash payments are recorded as a liability in accrued expenses and other liabilities
on the accompanying balance sheet. This deferred rent approximated $29.3 miltion as of August 28, 2006 and $27.9 million as of
August 27, 2005.

Financial Instruments ]

The Company has financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other current assets and accounts
payable. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments approximate fair value because of their short maturities. A discussion of
the carrying values and fair values of the Cempany’s debt is included in "Note F—Financing,” marketable securities is included in
"Note A—Marketable Securmes and derivatives is included in “Note E~—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”

Income Taxes . . R

The Company accounts for income taxes under the liabitity method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
diiferences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws
that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

Sales and Use Taxes
Governmental authorities assess sales and use taxes on the sale of goods and services. The Company excludes taxes collected {from
customers in its reported sales results, such amounts are reflected as accrued expenses until remitted to the taxing authorities.

Revenug Recognition
The Company recognizes sales at the time the sale is made and the product is delivered 1o the customer: Revenue from sales are
presented net of allowances for estimated sales returns, which are based on historical return rates.

Vendor Allowances and Advertising Costs

The Company receives various paymenis and allowances {rom its vendors based on the volume of purchases and for services that
AutoZone provides to the vendors. Monies received from vendors include rebates, allowances and promotional funds. The amounts
to be received are subject to purchase volumes and the terms of the vendor agreements, which generally do not state an expiration
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date, but are subiect to ongoing/negoetiations that may be impacted in the future based on changes in market condltlons vendor |,

marketing strategies and changes in the profitability or sell-through of the related merchandise. The Company' s level of advemsrng
and other operating, selling, general and administrative expenditures are not dependent on vendor allowancesl x

Rebates and other miscellanecus incentives are earned based on purchases or product sales and are accrued ratably cver the pur-
chase of the related product, but only if it is reasonably certain that the required volume levels will be reached| These monies are |
recorded as a reduction of inventories and are recognized as a reduction to cost of sales as the relaled |nventcr>r|es are sold. ' ’

For all allowances and promational funds earned under vendor funding, the Company applies the guidance pursuanl to the Emerglng
Issues Task Force Issue No. 0218, "Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) for Cash Consideration Fieo':ewed from a Vendor
(“EITF 02-16"), by recarding the vendor funds as a reduction of inventories that are recagnized as a reduction to cost of sales as the
inventories are sold. The Company's vendor funding arrangements do not provide for any reimbursement arrangemems that are for
specific, incremental, identifiable costs that are permitted under EITF 02-16 for the funding to be recorded as a reduction to advertrsrng

i
or other operating, selling, general and administrative expenses. T

Advertising expense was apprommately $78.1 miilion in fiscal 2006, $90.3 million in fiscal 2005, and $981 m||||on in fiscal 2004, The
Company expenses advertising 'costs as incurred. i £

4

. | .ot
Warranty Costs 0

The Company or the vendors supplying its products provide its customers with limited warranties on certain r‘!)roducts Estrmatedl
warranty obligations for which the Company is responsible are based on historical experience, provided at the time of sale of the I
product, and charged to cost of sales. ! |
il
-]

1
Shipping and Handling Costs
The Company does not generally charge customers separately for shlpprng and handling. The cost the Company incurs to shrpL
products to our stores is included in cost of sales. Costs to deliver producis from our stores to our customers are included in oper alrlr\g.

selling, general and administrative expenses.
]
1

'
'
!
. H
I

Pre-opening Expenses |
Pre-opening expenses, which consrst pnmanly of payroll and occupancy costs, are expensed as incurred, l : :
Earnrngs Per Share - l
Basic earnmgs per share is based on the weighted average outstanding common shares Biluted earnings per share is based on the
weighied average outstanding shares adjusted for the effect of common stock equivalents, ‘which are pnmarrly stock optrons Stock
options that were not included in the diluted computation because they woutd have been anti-dilutive were approximately 700 000

shares at August 26, 2006, 1.0 million shares at August 27, 2005, and 1.1 million shares at August 28, 2004. : !
Stock Options ; ’ ' ] A
At August 26, 2008, the Company has stock option plans that provide for the purchase of the Companys common stock by cerlaln
of its employees and directors, WhICh are described more fully in "Note B—Share-Based Payments.” Effective August 28, 2005, the
Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment” (*SFAS 123(H) ) and began!
recognizing compensation expense for its share-based payments based on the fair value of the awards. See * Nole B—Share- Based
Payments” for further discussion. ! . ' N
Recent Accounting Pronouncemenrs H
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncerta:nty in Income Taxes
{"FIN 487) in June 2006. The interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognrzed in our financial state-
ment in accordance with SFAS No. 108, "Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 will be effective for our fiscal year beginning August
26, 2007. The Company has not determined the eflect, if any, the adoption of FIN 48 will have on the Companys financial posmo'n and

results of operations. l e

On September 29, 2008, the F/f{\SB issued FASB Statement No. 158, "Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefrt Pension and Oth]er
Postretirement Plans—An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132R" ("SFAS 158™). This new standard requires an
employer 1o: (a) recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a plan's overfunded status or a hal?mty for a plan’s under-
funded status; (b) measure a plan's asseis and its obligations that determine its funded status as of the end o]f the employer's frscel
year (with limited exceptions); a:nd (c) recognize changes in the funded status of a defined b_enefit postretiren}enl plan i_n the yealrliln
which the changes occur. Thos'e changes will be reported in comprehensive income. The requiremeni to recognize the funded status

o ‘
]
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
{continued)

of a benelit plan and the disciosure requirements are effective for the Company's fiscal year ending August 25, 2007. The requirement
to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the employer's fiscal year-end statement of financial position is effec-
tive for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. The Company currently reflects as a liability in its consolidated balance sheet
the underfunded status of the plan as of its most recent measurement date. The Company has not determined the effect, it any, the

adoption of SFAS 158 will have on the Company's financial position and results of operations.

'

Note B—Share-Based Payments

Effective August 28, 200:5, the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) and began recognizing compensation expense for its share-based
payments based on the {air value of the awards. Share-based payments include stock option grants and certain transactions under
the Company's other stock plans. Prior to August 28, 2005, the Company accounted for share-based payments using the intringic-
value-based recognition method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion (*APB") No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” and SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” ("SFAS 123"). As options were granted at an exercise
price equal to the market value of the underlying commen stock on the date of grant, no stock-based employee compensation cost
was reflected in net income prior to adopting SFAS 123(R). As the Company adopted SFAS 123(R) under the modified-prospective-

transition method, results from prior periods have not been restated.

SFAS 123(R} ;equires share-based compensation expense recognized since August 27, 2005, to be based on the following: a) grant
date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 for unvested options granted prior to the adoption
date; b} grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R) for options granted subsequent o the
adoption date; and ¢) the discount on shares sold to employees post-adoption, which represents the difference between the grant

date fair value and the employee purchase price.

The adoption of SFAS 123(R)'s fair value method has resulted in additional share-based expense (a component of operating, selling,
general and administrative expenses) in the amount of $16.5 million related to stock options and $884,000 related to share purchase
plans for fiscal 2008, than if the Company had continued to account for share-based compensation under APB 25. For fiscal 2006,
this additional share-based compensaticn lowered pre-tax earnings by $17.4 million, lowered net income by $11.0 million, and lowered
basic earnings per share by $0.15 and diluted earnings per share by $0.14. SFAS 123(R) also reguires the benefits of tax deductions in
excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required
prior to SFAS 123(R). For fiscal 2008, the $10.6 million excess tax benefit classified as a financing cash inflow would have been classi-
fied as an operating cash inflow if the Company had not adopted SFAS 123(R). The impact of adopting SFAS 123(R) on future results
will depend on, among other things, levels of share-based payments granted in the future, actual forfeiture raies and the timing of

ODUOFI EXEFCISES

The following iable illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had not adopted SFAS 123(R) and
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 10 options granted under the Company's stock plans in all periods pre-
sented. For purposes of this pro forma disclosure, the value of the options is estimated using Black-Scholes-Merton multiple option

pricing model for all option grants.

August 26, August 28,
{in thousands, excep! per share data) ’ 2006 2004
Net income, as reported §569,275 $566,202 |
Add: Share-based payments included in reported net income, net of related tax effects
per SFAS 123(R}) 10,867 —
Deduct: Total pro forma stock-based employee compensation expense determined under
iair-value-based method for all awards, net of related tax effects per SFAS 123 . (15,328) (16,518)
Pro forma néet income ' $564,914 $549,684
Basic earnings per share: -
As reported $ 757 $ 666
Pro forma - ] - § 75 6.46
Diluted earnings per share: . .
As reported . $ 750 $ 656
Pro forma . $ 745 $ 636

Under SFAS 123(R) forfeitures are estimated at the time of valuation and reduce expense ratably over the vesting period. This estimate
is adjusted periodically based on the extent to which actual forfeitures differ, or are expected to differ, from the previous estimate. Under

P
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SFAS 123 and APB 25, the Company elected to account for forfeitures when awards were actually forfeited, at \n{hlch time all prewous

pro forma expense (which after-tax approximated $2.3 million in fiscal 2006, $7.3 million in fiscal 2005 and $3.1 million in fiscal 20|04)

was reversed to reduce pro forma expense for that period. { "
| l

AutoZone grants options to purchase commen stock to certain of its employees and directors under various plans at prices equal to
the market value of the stock on the dates the options were granted. Options have a term of 10 years or 10 years and one day from
grant date. Director options generally vest three years from grant date. Employee options generally vestin equel annual installments
on the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of the grant date. Employees and directors generally have 30 days after the serv:ce
retationship ends, or one year after death, to exercise all vested options. The fair value of each option grant is separately estlmated for
each vesting date. The fair value of each option is amortized into compensation expense on a straight-line basis between the grant
date for the award and each vesting date. The Company has estimated the fair vaiue of all stock option awards as of the date of the
grant by applying the Black-Scholes-Merton multiple-option pricing valuation model. The apphcatlon of this valuauon model 1nvolves
assumptions that are Judgmental and hlghly sensitive in the determination of compensatlon expense. l ‘ ||

The weighted average for key assumptlons used in determining the fair value of options granted and a summary of the methodptogy
applied to develop each assumption are as follows: ! oo

r

\ ‘ iYear Ended ot
i . ) August 26, | August27.  August 28,
2006 l 2005 2004
Expected price volatility | ‘ 35% I 36% 37%
Risk-frea interest rates - - A41% s 2.8% 2. 4%
Weighted average expected lives in years 3.3 3.5 3.311 !
Forleiiure rate . ‘ 10% 1 n/a r\.n'a; ‘
Dividend yield . : 0% , 0% 0?4,!
! .

Expected Price Volatility—This i is a measure of the amount by which a price has {luciuated or is expécted to fluctuate We use actual
historical changes in the market 'value of our stock 1o calculate the volatility assumption as it is management's behet that this is thei’

best indicator of future volatility. We calculate daily market value changes from the date of grant over a past pelrlod representatlve!of
the expected life of the options to determine volatility. An increase in the expected volatility will increase compelansatlon expense. ‘i

Risk-Free Interest Rate—This is the U.S. Treasury rate for the week of the grant having a term equal to the expected life of the 0pt|on

An increase in the risk-free mterest rate will increase compensation expense 1 : | :
I

Expected Lives—This is the perlod of time over which the options granted are expected to remain outstanding and is based on hlStOfl-
cal experience. Separate groups of employees that have similar historical exercise behavior are considered separately for valuat|or|1
purposes. Options granted have a maximum term of ten years or ten years and one day. An increase in the expected life will increase
compensation expense. I ! I

Forfeiture Rate—This is the estlmateci percentage of options granted thal are expecied to be forfeited or canceled before becomlng
fully vested. This estimate is based on historical experience. An increase in the forfeiture rate will decrease compensahon expense}

Dividend Yield—The Company has not made any dividend payments nor does it have plans to pay dividends in the foreseeable

future. An increase in the dividend yield will decrease compensation expense . : . ;
The Company generally issues new shares when options are exercised. A summary of cutstanding stock options is as follows:

Number Weighted Average

) ) ) of Sha_}es . Exercise Pnce
Ouistanding August 30, 2003 - 5,281,701 $42.14',
Granted : - 1,161,597 88.99 1
Exercised (1,118,797) 32,161
Canceled ' (312,795) 53.921;,
Outstanding August 28, 2004 ; - 5,011,706 54.42:1
Granted : ) . 1,099,465 AL
Exercised : (1.741,312) 38.85 ..
Canceled ‘ (532,373) 7091y
Outstanding August 27, 2005 3,837,486 6587 |
Granted . 748,452 B2.75.%
Exercised : (737.515) 54.48}:
Canceled ' (493.881) 75.49) ]
Outstanding August 26, 2006 ' 3,355,542 $70.73,|
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Notes to Consolibated Financial Sratemehts
(continued)

The following table summarizes information about siock options outstanding at August 26, 2006:

' Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
\ Weighted Average
) , ] Remaining

Range of ) Number Weighted Average Contractual Lite Number Weighted Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercise Price (in Years) Exercisable Exercise Price
$20.12-$45.53 " 685,832 £31.45 ’ 3.63 ' 668,519 $31.70
$69.23-$75.64 ’ 1,172,084 73.54 710 494,738 72.32
$80.14-%$86.55 676,272 82.35 9.01 22,902 ) 84.03
$88.65-$89.76 699,639 89.20 ) 7.22 284,378 89.17
$90.45-$98.30 121,715 94,27 B.38 30,500 . 93.79
$20.12-$98.30 . 3,355,642 $70.73 . 6.85 1,501,037 $58.04

At August 26, 2008, the aggregate intrinsic value of all outstanding options was $57.6 million with a weighted average remaining con-
tractual term.of 6.9 yearé, of which 1,501,037 of the oulstanding opticns are currently exercisable with an aggregaie intrinsic value of
$44.6 million, a weighted average exercise price of $58.04 and a weighted average remaining contractual term of 5.4 years. Shares
reserved for future option grants approximated 2.3 million at August 26, 2008. The weighied average grant date fair value of options
granted was $22.86 during fiscal 2006 and $23.36 during fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2006, 607,156 options vested, net of forfeitures,
with a weighied average intrinsic value of $13.57 per share. At August 26, 2006, the total compensation cost related to non-vested
awards not yet recognized was $16.9 million with a weighted average remaining expense recognition period of 1.1 years.

Under the AutoZone, Inc. 2003 Director Stock Option Plan, on January 1 of each year, each non-employee director receives an option
to purchase 1,500 shares of common stock, and each non-employee director that owns common stock worth at least five times the
annual fee paid to each non-employee director on an annual basis will receive an additional option to purchase 1,500 shares of com-
mon stock. In addition, each new director receives an option to purchase 3,000 shares upon election to the Board of Directors, plus

a portion of the annual directors’ option grant prorated for the portion of the year actually served in office. These stock option grants
are made at the fair market value as of the grant date. At August 26, 2008, there were 83,474 outstanding options with 312,026 shares
of common stock reserved for fuiure issuance under this plan.

Under the AutoZone, Inc. 2003 Director Compensation Plan, a non-employee director may receive no more than one-half of their
director fees immediately in cash, and the remainder of the iees must be taken in common stock or may be deferred in units with value
equivalent to the value of shares of common stock as of the grant date. At August 26, 20086, the Company has $1.6 million accrued
related to 18,887 director units issued under the current and prior plans with 87,610 shares of common stock reserved for future issu-
ance under the current plan. ’

For fiscal 20086, the Company recognized $884,000 in expense related to the discount on the selling of shares to employees and
executives under var:’oué share purchase plans. The employee stock purchase plan, which is qualified under Section 423 of the
Internal Revenue Code, permits al) eligible empldyees to purchase AutoZone's common stock at 5% of the lower of the market price
of the commen stock on the first day or'last day of each calendar quarter through payroll deductions. Maximum permitted annual
purchases are $15,000 pér employee or 10 percent of compensation, whichever is less. Under the plan, 51,167 shares were sold (o
employees in fiscal 20086, 58,479 shares were sold in fiscal 2005, and 66,572 shares were sold in fiscal 2004. The Company repur-
chased 62,293 shares at fair value in fiscal 2006, 87,974 shares in fiscal 2005, and 102,084 shares in fiscal 2004 from employees
electing to sell their stock. Issuances of shares under the employee stock purchase plans are netted against repurchases and such
repurchases are not included in share repurchases disclosed in “Note H—Stock Repurchase Program.” At August 26, 2006, 425,036
shares of commaon stock were reserved for future issuance under this plan. Once executives have reached the maximum under the
employee stock purchase plan, the Amended and Restated Executive Stock Purchase Plan permits all eligible executives (o purchase
AutoZone's common stock up to 25 percent of his or her annual salary and bonus. Purchases under this plan were 811 shares in fiscal
2006, 5,366 shares in fiscal 2005, and 11,005 shares in fiscal 2004. At August 26, 2006, 264,294 shares of common stock were
reserved for future issuance under this plan.

There have been no material modifications to the Company’s stock plans during fiscal 2006, 2005 or 2004.
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Note C—Accrued Expenses |

Accrued expenses consisted of the foliowing: ‘
'August 26, August 27,

4

{in thousands) V- | 2006 2005

Medical and ¢asualty insurance claims {current portion) ‘ $ 49,844 $ 48.’*{}2
Accrued compensation; related payroll taxes and benefits . 101,089 . 88,812
Property and sales 1axes 3 ' } 54,623 49, 340
Accrued interest . i 25,377 24, 179
Accrued sales and warranty returns ) 8,238 7 179
Other ] 41,248 38, 050

| $280,419  $255672

!
The Company retains a significant portion of the risks associated with workers' compensation, employee health, general, products‘ "
fiability, property and automative insurance. Beginning in fiscal 2004, a portion of these self-insured losses is managed through a ;l'
wholly owned insurance captive.. The Company maintains certain levels for stop-loss coverage for each sell- |ns'ured plan in order to
limit its liability for large claims. The limits are per claim and are $1.5 million for workers' compensation, $500,000 for employee health
and $1.0 million'far general, products liability, property, and automotive. Self-insurance costs are accrued based upon the aggregate _
of the liability for reported claims and an estimated liability for claims incurred bul not reported. Estimates are based on calculanons
. that consider hlstoncal lag and claim development factors. ' ’

!
The Company or the vendors supplying its products provide its customers limited warranties on certain products that range from 30
days to lifetime warranties. In most cases, the Company'’s vendors are primarily responsible for warranty claims.Warranty costs reraUng
to merchandise sold under warramy not covered by vendors are estimated and recorded as warranty obligations at the time of sale
based on each product’s historical return rate. These obligations, which are often funded by vendor allowances are recorded as &
component of accrued expenses. For vendor allowances that are in excess of the related estimated warranty expense for the vendor S
products, the excess is reclassmed to inventory and recognized as a reduction io cost of sales as the related inventory is sold. The
Company per:odmally assesses‘the adequacy of its recorded warranty liability and adjusts the amount as necessary resulting in;
income or expense recognition. The Company has successfully negotiated with certain vendors to transfer warranty obligations to sucih
vendors in order to minimize the Company s warranty exposure resulting in credits to earnings of $1.7 million in flsca'l 2005 and $42.1 million
in fiscal 2004, and ongoing redudtions in allowances received from vendors and claim settlements. Changes in 1he Company's accrued

sales and warranty returns for the last three fiscal years consisted of the following: : a|
} ‘ ) Year Ended I

August 26, ‘August 27, Auguélj 28,
{in thousands) . 2006 ;2005 2004
Balance, beginning of fiscal year . $ 7,179 s 11,493 $ 78:482
Allowances received from vendors 14,911 | 53997 49,444
Excess vendor allowances reclassified (o inventory (9,007) | {7,129} (12 056)
income ! —_ (1,736} - (42, 094)
Claim settlements (4,845) l (49,446) (62,283)
Balance, end of fiscal year f g $ 8238 |3 71790 $ 11493
Note D—Income Taxes ;!
The provision for income tax expense consisted of the following: ‘ |
. ] Year Ended "
: : August26, 'August 27,  August 28,
(in thousands) \ , 2006 | 2005 2004
Current: i I
Federal . . $272,916 $296,849 $268.Q13
State : 23,539 | 21,981 27,189
) ' : 206,455 ! 318830 295,202
Deterred: ’ . ! \
Federal i . 30,065 {11,271) 41,532
State ' 6,241 (5.357) 2,966
' 38306 | (16.628) 44'498
$332,761  |$302,202 $339,700
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
{continued) ‘

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes to the amount computed by applylng the federal statutory tax rate of 35% to income-
before income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended

. August 26, August 27, August 28,

(in thousands) ) 2006 2005 2004
Federal tax at statutory U.S. income tax rate ‘ - $315713 $305,627 $317,066
State income taxes, net - 19,357 10,806 19,601
Tax benefit on repalriation of foreign earnings _ {16,351) —
Other {2,309) 2,120 3,033
$332,761 $302,202 $339,700

The American Jobs Creation Act (the "Act”), signed into law in October 2004, provided an opportunity to repatriate foreign ‘earnings,
reinvest themn in the United States, and claim an 85% dividend received deduction on the repatriated earnings provided certain crite-
ria were met. During fiscal 2005, the Company determined that it met the criteria of the Act and began the process of repatriating
approximately $36.7 million from its Mexican sub'51d|ar|es. As the Company had previously provided deferred income taxes on these
amounts, the planned repatriation resulted in a $16.4 million reduction to income tax expense for fiscal 2005. During fiscal 2008, the
Company complated the originally planned $36.7 million repatriation plus an additional $4:5 million in accumulated earnings.

Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
August 26, August 27,

(in thousands) 2006 2005

Net deferred tax assets: i
Domestic net operating loss and credit carryforwards I $ 18,694 $19,589
Foreign net operating loss and credit carryforwards . 4,017 2,298
Insurance reserves ' i - . 13,748 12,470
Closed store reserves ’ ‘ 2,299 3317
Pension . : . : : . 9,167 26,792
Accrued benefits ‘ ’ . : 14,927 6,451
Other . ) . 12,992 11,575
Total deferred tax assets . 75,844 82,492
Less: Valuation allowances . (8,698) (9.036)
Net deferred 1ax assets ) . 67,146 . 73,456

Deferred tax liabilities: )
Property and equipment : ) 13,118 12,221
Inventory 68,449 30,057
Derivatives : 3,643 1,589
Prepaid expenses 9,821 - 7,630
QOther - 1,576 —
Deferred tax liabiliies 96,607 51,497
Net deferred tax (liabilities) assats $(29,461) $21.959

Deferred taxes are not provided for earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries as such earnings are intended to be permanently reinvested in
the business.

For the years ended August 26, 2006, and August 27, 2005, the Company had deferred tax assets of $9.0 million and $9.2 million
from federal tax net operating losses (“NOLs") of $25.7 million and $26.3 million, and deferred tax assets of $2.7 million and $2.4 mil-
lion from state tax NOLs of $85.1 million and $57.4 million, respectively. The federal and state NOLs expire between fiscal 2007 and
fiscal 2025. The Company maintains a $7.4 million valuation allowance against certain federa! and state NOLs resulting primarily from
annual statutory usage limitations. Additionally, the Company had deferred tax assets of $10.9 million at August 26, 2006 and $10.2
million at August 27, 2005, for federal, state and Non-U.S. income 1ax credit carryforwards. Certain tax credit carryforwards havé no
expiration date and others will expire in fiscal 2007 through fiscal 2016. A valuation allowance of $1.3 million was established by the
Company for credits subject to such expiration periods.,

During June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes” ("FIN 487). See “Note A—Recent Accouniing Pronouncements” for further discussion.
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Note E—Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities "!
AutoZone has utilized interest rate swaps to convert variable rate debt to fixed rate debt and to lock in fixed rates on future debt -
issuances. AutoZone reflects the current fair value of all interest rate hedge instruments in its consolidated balance sheels as a }(1
component of other assets. The Company had an outstanding interest rate swap with a fair vatue of $10.2 mrlhon at August 26, 2006
and $4.3 millicn at August 27, 2005 to'effectively fix the interest rate on the $300.0 million term lean entered |nto during December.
2004. At August 28, 2004, the Company had an ocutstanding five-year forward-starting interest rate swap with a| notional amount
of $300 million. This swap had a farr value of $4.6 million at August 28, 2004 and was settled during November 2004 with no deb
being issued. , ! 1
The related gains and losses onunterest rate hedges are deferred in stockholders’ equity as a component of ot‘her comprehensive
income or loss. These deferred galns and losses are recognized in income as a decrease or increase 1o interest expense in the i,
period in which the related interest rates being hedged are recognized in expense. However, o the extent that the change in value!of
an interest rate hedge instrument doses not perfectly oifset the change in the value of the interest rate being hedged that meffecnve
portion is immediately recognized in income. The Company's hedge instruments have been determined to be hrghly effective as of.

August 26, 2006. , : ! | !

"
v
i
'l

The following table summarizes the fiscal 2006 and 2005 activity in accumulated other comprehensive loss as,:t relates to mterest raze

hedge instruments:’ ] . '

' Before-Tax  Income Af:e'r-,Tax

{in thousands} - ’ . Amount | Tax Amount
Accumulated net gains as of August'28. 2004 ’ ' - $11,564 ; ${(1,740) $ 9, 824
Net gains on outstanding derivatives . ' 4,306 , {1,589) 2, 71?
Reclassification of derivative ineffectiveness intc earnings . (4,640), 1,740 (2,900)
Reclassification of net gains on derivatives into earnings (612); — (612)
Accurmulated net gains as of Augus{27, 2005 10.618 | (1.589) 9.b29
Net gains on outstanding derivatives ' 5,904 (2,152} 3,752
Reclassification of net gains on derivatives into earnings (612) —_— 612)
Accumuiated net gains as of August 26, 2006 ) $15810 | $(3,741)  $12,169

8 | S
The Company primarily executes derivative transactions of relatively short duration with strong creditworthy counterparties. These,
counterpariies expose the Company to credit risk in the event of non-performance. The amount of such exposrrre is limited to the .
unpaid portion of amounts due to the Company pursuant to the terms of the derivative financial instruments, it any. Although lhere are
no collateral requirernents, if a downgrade in the credit rating of these counterparties occurs, management bel_reves that this exposure
is mitigated by provisions in the'derivative agreements which allow for the legal right of offset of any amountsidue to the Compan'y
from the counterparties with arnlounts payable, if any, to the counterpartles by the Company. Management considers the risk of ‘
counterparty default to be minimal. l ; ;

As of August 26, 20086, the Company estimates $600,000 of gains currently included in accumulaled other comprehensrve income to
be reclassed into earnings wrthrn the next 12 months. ] v
Note F—Financing : j .

The Company’s long-term debt consisted of the following: ';
: ’ ’ August 26, August 27,

,

{in thousands) . | 2006 2005

Bank Term Loan due December 2009, effective interest rate of 4.55% 's 300,000 % 30p.000
5.875% Senior Notes due Qctober 2012, effective interest rate of 6.33% | 300,000 300,000
5.5% Senior Notes due November 2015, effective interest rate of 4.86% ‘ 300,000 300,000
4,75% Senior Notes due November 2010, effective interest rate of 4.17% 200,000 200,000
4.375% Senior Notes due June 2013, effective interest rate of 5.65% ' 200,000 20|0,000
6.95% Senior Notes due June 15, 2016, effective interest rate of 7.09% - 200,000 |-
6.5% Senior Notes due July 2008 190,000 190,000
7.99% Senior Notes due April 2006 - 150,000
Commercial paper, weighted average inferest rate of 5.3% at August 26, 20086, and 3.6% at August 27, 2003 122,400 217,700
Qther 44,757 4,150

$1,857,157  $1,861.850
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued) '

The Company maintains $1 .0 billion of revolvmg credit facilities with a group of banks to primarily support commercial paper borrowings,
letters of credit and other short-term unsecured bank loans. The $300 million credit facility that matured in May 2006 was replaced
with a new $300 million credit facility expiring in May 2010. The $700 million credit facility that matures in May 2010 was amended so
that all of the $1 billion i these two credit facilities will have similar terms and conditions, may be increased to $1.3 billion ai AutoZone's -
election, may include up'fo $200 million in letters of credit, and may include up to $100 million in capital leases. As the available balance
is reduced by commercial paper borrowings and certain outstanding letters of credit, the Company had $746.8 million in available
capacity under these facilities at August 26, 2006, The rate of interest payable under the credit facilities is a function of Bank of
America's base rate or a Eurodollar rate (each as defined in the facility agreements), or a combination thereof.

During April 20086, the $300.0 million bank term loan entered in December 2004 was amended to have similar terms ang conditions
as the $1.0 billion credit facilities, but with a December 2009 maturity. That credit agreement with a group of banks provides for a term
loan, which consists of, at the Company’s election, base rate loans, Eurcdollar loans or a combination thereof. Interest accrues on base
rate loans at a base rate,per annum- equal to the higher of prime rate or the Federal Funds Rate plus 2 of 1%. Interest.accrues on
Eurodollar loans at & defined Eurodollar rate plus the applicable percentage, which can range from 40 basis points to 112.5 basis ol
points, depending upon the Company’s senior unsecured (non-credit enhanced) long-term debt rating. Based on AutoZone's ratings T
at August 26, 2006, the applicable percentage on Eurodollar loans is 50 basis points. On December 30, 2004, the full principal ’
amount of $300 million was funded as a Eurodollar loan. AutoZone may select interest periods of cne, two three or six months for
Eurcdollar loans, subject, to availability. Interest is payable at the end of the selected interest period, but no less frequently than quarterly.
AutoZone entered into an interest rate swap agreement on December 29, 2004, to effectively fix, based on current debt ratings, the
interest rate of the term loan- at 4.55%. AutoZone has the option 15 extend loans into subsequent interest period(s) or convert them into
loans of ancther interest rate type. The entire unpaid principal amount of the term loan will be due and payable in full on December 23,
2009, when the facility terminates. The Company may prepay the terrn loan in whale or in part at any time without penalty, subject to
reimbursement of the lenders’ breakage and redeployment costs in the case of prepayment of Eurodollar borrowings. ’

During April 20086, the $150.0 million Senior Notes maturing at that time were repaid with an increase in commercial paper. On June 8,
2006, the Company issued $200.0 million in 6.95% Senior Notes due 2016 under its existing sheif registration statement filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 17, 2004. That shelf registration allows the Company to sell up to $300 million in debt .
securities to fund general corporate purposes, including repaying, redeeming or repurchasing outstandlng debt, and for working
capital, capnal expendltures new store openmgs stock repurchases and acquisitions, . '

On June 20, 2006, the Company's Mexican submd:anes borrowed peso debt in the amount of $43.3 million in U.S. doliars. These
funds were primarily used to recapitalize certain Memcan sub5|d|anes and to repay mtercompany loans allowing the entities to-claim
vajue-added tax refunds'from the Mexican authorltles The interest rates on these borrowings range from 8.3% to,9.2% with a maturity
of September 18, 2006. During September 2006, the Company repaid a portion of this indebtedness and extended the maturity to
March 2007 on the rema:ining unpaid balance. This indebtedness is reflected as a component of Other borrowings in the above table.

The Company's borrowings under its Senior Notes arrangements contain minimal covenants, primarily restrictions on liens, Under . .
its other borrowing arrangements, covenants include limitations on total indebtedness, restrictions on liens, a minimum fixed charge
coverage ratio and a provision where repayment obligations may be accelerated if AutoZone experiences a change in control (as o
defined in the agreements) of AutoZone or its Board of Directors. All of the repayment obligations under the Company's borrowing )
arrangements may be accelerated and come due prior to the scheduled payment date if covenants are breached or an eveni of

default oceurs. As of August 26, 2006, the Company was in compliance with all covenants and expects 10 remain in compllance

with all covenants.

All of the Company s debt is unsecured, except for $1.5 million, which is collateralized by property. Scheduled maturities of long-term
debt are as follows: -

. . : Amount
Fiscal Year - : 7 . ’ (in thousands}
2007 . . $ 167,157
2008 . ' 190,000
2009 . — !
2010 . 300,000 o
2011 i 200,000
Thereafter | 1,000,000

$1,857,157
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The maturities for fiscal 2007 are classified as long-term in the fiscal 2006 consolidated balance sheet as the Company has the ability

and intention to refinance them on a long-term basis. . ! "
I

The fair vatue of the Company’s debl was estimated at $1.825 billion as of August 26, 2006, and $1.868 billion ajs of August 27, 2005
based on the quoted market pnces for the same or similar issues or on the current rates available to the Company for debt of the same
“remaining maturities. Such fair value is less than the carrying value of debt by $32.3 million at August 26, 2006! and greater than tpe

carrying value of debt by $6.3 million at August 27, 2005. - ' b
o

Note G—Interest Expense -

) . : . |
Net interest expense consisted of the following: !

Year Ended :[
‘ August 26, !i\ugust 27, Augusi 28,

fin thousands) , 2006 | 2005 2004
Interest expense - $112,127  $104684  § 93831
Interest income ! (2,253) (1.162) (214)
(1,079) (813)

Capitalized interest : {1,985)
' $107,8889 $102,443 $ 92,804

| .
Note H—Stock Repurchase Program -
During fiscal 2008, the Board of Dlrectors increased the Company's authorization o repurchase the Companys] common stock in the
open market by $500 millien to $4 9 billion. From January 1998 to August 26, 2008, the Company has repurchased a total of 83.2 m1lhon

I '
shares at an aggregate cost of $4 7 billion, The following table summarizes our share repurchase activity for the following fiscal years: |
i

Year Ended i
August 26, - August 27, August 28

{in thousands) _ - 2006 b 2005 2004
Amount ' $578,066 $426,852 $848,102

Shares L6187 1 4822 10,194

N
Note |—Pension and Savungs Plans I x:
Prior to January 1, 2003, substantially all full-time employees were covered by a defined benefit pension plan. The benefits under the
plan were based on years of service and the employee's highest consecutive five-year average compensation.;On January 1, 2003
the plan was frozen. Accordingly; pension plan participants will earn no new benefits under the plan formuta and no new pammpanls

will join the pension plan. l 3

On January 1, 2003, the Cornpa'ny's supplemental defined benefit pension plan for certain highly compensat'ed employees was:n
also frozen. Accordingly, plan participants will earn no new benefits under the plan formula and no new participanis will join the

. . | - S
pension plan. ] e

The investment strategy for pension plan assets is to utilize a diversified mix of domestic and international equity portfolios, togethé'r'
with other investments, to earn a long-term investment return that meets the Company's pension plan obligatior{s. Active management
and alternative investment strategies are utilized within the plan in an effort io minimize risk, while realizing investment returns in excess
of market indices. Il ) ! '

The weighted average asset allocation for our pension plan assets was as follows at June 30; !
2006 | 2005 !

. - Current  Target  Current  Target
Domestic equities : 32.0% 27:.0% 25.2% 3_2.:0%
International equities 24.5 30.9 30.0 24.5
Alternative investments - : 30.5 279 3186 30.5
Real estate ‘ . 1.0 12.2 1.7 11.0
Cash and cash equivalents - . 20 2.0 15 20

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%  100,0%
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
{continued)

i

The Company makes annual contributions in amounts at least equal to the minimum funding requirements of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, The Company contributed $8.2 million to the plans in fiscal 2006 and made no contributions to the
plans in fiscal 2005 or 2004. Based on current protect:ons we expect to contribute approximately $7 million o the plan in fiscal 2G07;
however, a change 10 the expected cash fundmg may be impacted by a change in interest rates or a change in the actual or expected
return on plan assets. The measurement date for the Company's deflned beneﬁt pensmn plans is May 31 of each fiscal year.

The following table sets forth the plans’ funded etatus and amounts recogntzed in the Company's financial statements:

August 26, August 27,

{in thousands) ' ‘ 2006 2005
Change in benefit obligation: ‘
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $176,325 $128,383
Interest cost , o 9,190 8,220
Actuarial (gains) losses ) (26,783) 43,258
Benefits paid , , ) (3,790} {3,606)
Benefit obligation at end of year 154,942 176,325
Change in plan assets: ,
Fair value of plan asseis at begtnnrng of year i ) 107,551 - 102,361
Actual return on plan assets - . 17,600 9,568
Employer contributions ) : 6,187 —
Benefits paid o . . _ (3,790) . , (3.808)
Administrative expenses ‘ v . © (656)° (772)
Fair value ¢f plan assets at end of year . PP 126,892 107,551
Recoenciliation of funded status: . : ‘ -
Underfunded status of the plans ) ' (28,050) (68,774)
Contributions from measuremant date to fiscal year-end . 3,017 —
Unrecognized net actuarial losses 1 o 21,464 62,264
Unamortized pricr service cost 105 (522)
Accrued benefit cost . T ' - § (3,464) $ (7.032)
Recognized defined benefit pension liability: . ’
Accrued benefit liability 5 (28,050) $(68,774)
Intangible asset ' ‘ 105 —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss o - . 24,481 ' 61,742
Net liability recognized S $ (3,464) $ (7.032)
Year Ended
August 26, August 27, August 28,
{in thousands) . . 2006 2005 2004
Companents of net periodic benefit cost: ) . .
Interest cost $ 9,190 $ 8,290 $8114
Expected return on plan assets ' {8,573) (8,107) (6,871)
Amortization,of pricr service cost ‘ ) ) (627) (844) {645)
. Recognized net actuarial losses . 5,845 1,000 4,371
Net pericdic benefit cost ' ' . ' . $ 5,635 $ 539 $ 4‘9-69,

The actuarial assumptions were as follows:

2006 = 2005 2004
Weighted average discount rate 6.25% 5.25% 6.50%

Expected long-term rate of return on assets 8.00% 800% 8.00%

As the plan benefits were frozen as of December 31, 2002, there is no service cost and increases in future compensation levels no-
longer impact the calculation, Moody's Aa rates as of the measurement date are used as a guide in establishing the weighted average
discount rate. The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based cn the historical relationships between the investment
classes and the capital markets updated for current conditions. Prior service cost is amortized over the estimated average remaining
service‘period of active plan participants as of the date the prior service base is established, and the unrecognized actuarial loss is
amortized over the estimated remaining service period of 7.86 years at August 26, 2006,
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! )

I
Based on current assumptions about future events, benefit payments are expected to be paid as follows for each of the following plan

years. Actual benefit payments may vary significantly from the following estimates: !
I

‘ . Amoun:
Plan Year Ending December 31 ) . {in thousands)
2008 . | $ 2,996
2007 . . ’ W 3515
2008 - . 4, 123
2009 ' . . 4718
2010 b 5,264
2011-2015 . 35384

On January 1, 2003, the Company introduced an enhanced defined contribution plan (*401(k) plan”) pursuant to Section 401(k) of the
internal Revenue Code that replaced the previous 401(k) plan. The 401({k} plan covers all domestic employees who meet the plan’ sv
paruupatlon requirements. The new plan features include increased Company matching contributions, tmmedle%te 100% vesting of :
Company contributions and an |ncreased savings option to 25% of gualified earnings. The Company makes match:ng cc>n1r|butac>nsl
per pay period, up to a specmed percentage of employaes’ conltributions as approved by the Board of D|rector§ The Company made
matching centributions to employee accounts in connection with the 401(k) plan of $8.6 million in fiscal 2006, $8.4 million in flscall
2005, and $8.8 million in fiscal year 2004. ' , i
Note J—Leases . : F
Some of the Company's retail stores, distribution centers, facilities and equipment are leased. Most of these lealses include renewal »
options, at the Company’s election, and some inctude options to purchase and provisions for percentage rent based on sales. Remal
expense was $143.9 million in fiscal 2006, $150.6 miliion in flscal 2005, and $116.9 million in fiscal 2004. Percentage rentals were * |,
insignificant. . . i

f
Based on clarifications from the Securities and Exchange Commission, during fiscal 2005, the Company completed a detailed review
of its accounting for rent expense and expected useful lives of leasehold improvements. The Company noted inconsistencies in the
periods used to amortize leasehotd improvements and the periods used to straight-line rent expense. The Comp;any revised its pohcy to
record rent for all operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term, including any reasonably assured renewal periods and
the period of time prior to the lease term that the Company is in possession of the leased space for the purpose of installing Ieaseho!d
improvements. Differences between recorded rent expense and cash payments are recorded as a Ilablhty in aqcrued expenses and
other long-term liabilities on the balance sheet. This deferred rent approximated $29.3 million on August 26, 2006 and $27.9 mIHIOﬂ!OH
August 27, 2005. Additicnally, all leasehold improvements are amortized over the Jesser of their useful life or the remainder of the Iease
term, including any reasonably assured renewal periods, in effect when the leasehold improvements are placedI in service. During rtthe
quarter ended February 12, 2005, the Company recorded an adjustment in the amount of $40.3 million pre-tax ($25 4 million after- 1ax)
which lowered fiscal 2005 dituted'earnings per share by $0.32. This adjustment included the impact on prior years 1o reflect add1t|onal
amaortization of leasehold improvéments and additional rent expense as if this new policy had always been followed by the Company.
The impact of the adiustment on any prlor year would have been immaterial. : i
Minimum annual rental commitments under non-cancelable operatmg leases were as follows at the end of fisca:I 2006: ¥l;

| Amount
Fiscal Year . (in thousands}
2007 1 | § 147,776
2008 : i 133,289
2009 ‘ 113,339"
2010 o : - 94, 852
2011 ' ; 77,465
Thereafter ‘ { 507, 819
Total minimurn payrnents required ; $1,074.5_40

i
In conneclion with the Company’ s December 2001 sale of the TruckPro business, the Company subleased sorri1e properties to the .

purchaser {or an initial term of not less than 20 years. The Company's remaining aggregate rental obligation at August 26, 2006 of
$26.9 million is included in the above table, but the obligation is entirely offset by the sublease rental agreement. £y

|
|
|
|
:
E
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(continued)

Note K—Restructuring and Closed Store Obligations '

From time to-time, the Company will close or relocate leased stores. The remaining minimum lease obligations and other carrying
costs of these propertie's are accrued upen the store closing. The following table presents a summary of the closed store obligations
inciuding those obligations originating from the 2001 restructuring and all other store closings:

Year Ended

. August 26, August 27, August 28,

(in thousands) 2006 2065 2004
Beginning balance $ 8,159 $11,186 $ 26,838
Increase 1o reserve 707 728 2,610
Payment of obligations {3,149) (2,755) (13,429}
Adjustment gains - (1,000} . (4.833)
Ending batance . $ 5717 $ 8,159 $ 11,186

Increases to the reserve represent the accrual for stores closed during the period and the accretion of interest expense on the
discounting of the remaining lease obligaticns. Adjustment gains represent reversals of amounts previously reserved due to the
subsequent development, negotiated lease buy-out or dispesition of properties. .

Note L—Commitments and Contingencies

Construction commitments, primarily for new stores, totaled approximately $40.6 million at August 26, 20086,

The Company had $131.6 million in outstanding standby letters of credit and $12.8 million in surety bonds as of August 26, 2006, which
all have expiration periods of less than one year. A substantial portion of the outstanding standby letters of credit (which are primarily
renewed on an annual basis} and surety bonds are used to cover reimbursement obligations to our workers' compenéation carriers.
There are no'additional contingent liabilities associated with these instruments as the underlying liabilities are already reflected in our
consolidated balance sheet. The standby letterq of credit and surety bonds arrangements have automatic renewal clauses.

Note M—Litigation . .

AutoZone, Inc. is a defendant in a lawsuit entitled *Coatition for a Level Playing Field, L.L.C., et al., v. AuioZone, Inc. et al.,” filed in
the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York in October 2004. The case was filed by more than 200 plaintitis, which
are principally automnotive aftermarket warehouse distributors and jobbers {collectively "Plaintiffs"), against a number of defendants,
including automotive aftermarket retailers and aftermarket automotive parts manufacturers. In the amended complaint, the plaintiffs
allege, inter alia, that some or all of the automotive aftermarket retailer defendants have knowingly received, in violation of the
Robingon-Patman Act (the “Act”), from various of the manufacturer defendants benefits such as volume discounts, rebates, early
buy allowances and other allowances, fees, inventory without payment, sham advertising and promoticnal payments, a share in the
manufacturers’ profits, benefits of pay on scan purchases, implementation of radic frequency identification iechnology, and excessive
payments for services purportedly performed for the manufacturers. Additionally, a subset of plaintiffs alleges a claim of fraud against
the automotive aftermarket retailer defendants based on discovery issues in a prior litigation involving similar Robinson-Patman Act
claims, in the prior litigation, the discovery dispute, as well as the underlying claims, were decided in favor of AutoZone and the other
automotive aftermarket fetailer defendants who proceeded to trial, pursuant {o a unanimous jury verdict which was affirmed by the
Second Circuit Court of Appeals. In the current litigasion, plaintiffs seek an unspecified amount of damages {including statutory trebling),
attorneys' fees, and a permanent injunction prohibiting the aftermarket retailer defendants from inducing andfor knowingly receiving
discriminatory prices from any of the aftermarket manuiacturer defendants and from opening up any fusther stores to compete with
plaintiffs as long as defendants allegedly continue to violate the Act. The Company believes this suit to be without merit and is vigor-
ously defending against it. Defendants have filed motions to dismiss all claims with prejudice on substantive and procedural grounds.
Additionally, the Defendanis have sought to enjoin plaintiffs from filing similar lawsuits in the future. If granted in their entirety, these
dispositive motions would resolve the litigation in Defendants’ favor. |

On June 22, 2005, the Attorney General of the Siate of California, in conjunction with District Attarneys for San Bernardino, San Joagquin
and Monterey Countigs, filed suit in the San Bernardino County Superior Court against AutoZone, Inc. and its California subsidiaries.
The San Diego County District Attorney later joined the suit. The lawsuit alleges that AutoZone faited 1o follow various state statutes
and regulations governing the storage and handling of used motor oil and other materiais collected for recycling or used for cleaning
AutoZone stores and parking lots. The suit seeks $12.0 million in penalties and injunctive relief.
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The Company currently, and frorn time to time, is involved in various other legal proceedings incidental to the conduct of its busmess
Although the amount of liability that may result from these other proceedlngs cannot be ascertained, the Company does not currently

1
believe that, in the aggregate,, these matters will result in liabilities material to the Company s nnanmal condition, results of operauons

or cash flows. : :

'
v

| 1

Note N—Segment Reportmg ,
The Company manages its business on the basis of one reportable segment. See “Note A—Significant Accounting Pohmes for a‘l
brief description of the Company s business. As of August 26, 2006, the majonty of the Company's operatlons were focated wﬁhmlthe
United States. Other operations inciude ALLDATA and the Mexico locations, each of which comprises less lhan 3% of consolidated
net sales. The following data is presented in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, ‘DnsclosuresIl '
about Segmenis of an Enterprise and Related Information:” o

. , iYear Ended i f
. ) August 26, August 27, August 28,
(in thousands} ' - 2006 2005 2004
Primary business focus: ‘ oo - i1
Domestic Retail : .. $4,989,266 $4,795,648 $4,727.402
Domestic Commercial . 708,715 718,150 740,480
Other , e 250,374 197.084 169,143
Net sales $5948,355 135710882 .  $5.637.025
1 . B
3
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Corporate Information

40 Member CEO Team

Our leadership team is comprised of 40 individuals who work tirelessly to support
the AutoZone that exists today. We lead as a team, and we win as a team.
Through thelr continued guidance, the Company is well positioned for a strong future.

Officers
Customer Satisfaction

William C. Rhodes, (It
President ang Chief Executive Officer

Executive Vice Presidents
Customer Satisfaction

Bradley W. Bacon!
Store Operations and Commercial

William T. Gilest )
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Harry L. Gotdsmith? .
General Counsel and Secretary

| Robert D. Qlsen?
Supply Chain, Information Technology,
Mexico and Store Development

James A. Shea!
Merchandising and Marketing

Senior Vice Presidents
Customer Satisfaction

Timothy W, Briggs!
Human Resources

William W. Graves! |
Supply Chain

Lisa R. Kranc!
Marketing

YRequired to fite under Section 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

1

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Computershare Investor Services

P.O. Box 43069

Providence, Rhode !sland 02940-3069
(877) 282-1168

(781) 575-2723
hiip:/fwww.computershare.com

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Stockhglders of
AutoZone will be held at 8:30 a.m., CST,

on December 13, 2006, at the J.R. Hyde,

Il Siore Support Center, 123 Soauth Front Street,
Memphis, Tennessee.

40

Vice Presidents
Customer Satisfaction

Craig L. Barnes
Merchandising

L. Dan Barzel
Merchandiging

Jon A. Bascom
Information Technology

Rebecca W. Ballou .
Assistant General Counsel and_
Assistant Secreiary

B. Craig Blackwell
Operations

Kenneth L. Brame
Chiet information Officer

Michael T, Broderick
Qperations

Brian L. Campbell
Investor Relations and Tax

Philip 8. Daniete
QOperations

Brett 0. Easley

* Merchandise Pricing and Analysis

Mérk A. Finestone
Merchandising

wm. David Gilmore
Store Development

Eric S. Gould
Commercial

William R. Hackney
Operations

Radney €. Halsell
Supply Chain

AutoZone Web Sites

Investor Relations: http:/fwww.autozoneinc.com
Company Web Site: http:/fwww.autozone.com
Stock Exchange Listing

New York Stock Exchange

Ticker Symbol: AZO

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP

Memphis, Tennessee

Code of Ethical Conduct

AuteZone's Code of Ethical Conduct is
available on its investor relations Web site
at hitp:/fwww.autozoneinc.com.

Diana H. Hull _

. Assistant General Counsel and

Assistant Secretary

Jeffrey W. Lagges
ALLDATA

Mitchell C. Major
Supply Chain

Jose E. Marrero
Marketing

Richard 5. McDuifie
Supply Chain

Grant E. McGee
Commercial

Thomas B. Newbermn
Operations

Jeffrey H. Nix
Information Technology

Charlie Pleas, It
Controller

Raymond A. Pohlman
Government and Community Relationsg

Elizabeth $. Rabun
Loss Prevention

Anthony Dean Rose, Jr.
Merchangising

Michael L. Shadrach
Strategic Planning and
New Business Development

Breti L. Shanaman
Marketing

Richard C. Smith
Operations

Scott W. Webb
Merchandising

Form 10-K/Quarterly Reports

Stockholders may obtain free of charge a copy
of AuteZene’s annual report on Farm 10-K, its
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q as filed with

the Securities and Exchange Commission and
quarierly press releases by contacting Investor
Relations, P.O. Box 2198, Memphis, Tennessee
38101; e-mailing investor.relations@aulozone.com
or phoning (901) 495-7185.

Copies of all documents filed by AutoZone
with the Securities and Exchange Gormmission,
including Form 10-K and Form 10-Q, are

also available at the 8EC's EDGAR server

at hiip:/iwww.sec.gov.

Stockholders of Record

As of August 26, 2006, there were 3,617 stock-
holders of record, excluding the number of ben-
eficial owners whose shares were represented
by security position listings.
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, Edward 5. Lampert W. Andrew McKenna
i |

Dr. N. Gerry House J. R, Hyde, 1l

George R. Mrkenic, Jr. William C. Rhodes, Il

i N |
Board of Directors .

Chartes M. Elson®’ |
Edgar S. Woolard Jr. |
Professor of Corporate Governance |
University of Delaware I

Sue E. Gove®™
Consuitant
Alvarez and Marsal Business Consulting

i |
Earl G. Graves, .03

President and CEO
Earl G. Graves Publishing

Dr. N. Gerry House™
President and CEO
Institute for Student Achigvement

J.IR. Hyde, Il
Chairman
AutcZone, Inc.

Edward S. Lampert®?
Chairman and CEQO
ESL Investments, Inc.

W. Andrew McKenna!™?
Private Investor

George R. Mrkonic, Jr.™
Retired President/Vice Chairman
Borders Group, Inc.

William C. Rhodes, Ili
President and CEQ
AutoZone, Inc.

(1) Audit Committee
(2) Compensation Committee
(3) Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee
* Committee Chair

AutoZone recently announced Edwartl'.l S. Lampert
will not be standing for re-etection to the AutoZone
Board of Directors, in order to devote more time to
his other duties at ESL Investments, Inc. and
Sears Holdings, Inc. We want to thank Eddie for
his leadership and guidance on our Board of
Di!rectors for the past 7 years, as well :as wish him
continued success on his future endeavors.

AutoZone continues to be an amazing
success story and one of the best
companies based on return on invested
capital in the country. It is an honor to
share our successes and future plans
with you, our customers, AutoZoners,
and stockholders. We look forward to
sharing our continued success with you

well into the future.
1
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